RECEIVED

Aug 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICO ANTONIO FUNDERBURK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000172

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Did the circuit court err when it refused to charge the jury on involuntary intoxication where there was evidence presented at trial that Appellant was drugged without his knowledge and where involuntary intoxication was the center of Appellant's defense?

II.

Did the circuit court err in admitting forty pictures of the injuries sustained by K.S. where the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and where any probative value was negated by both the extensive, descriptive lay and expert witness medical testimony elicited during the trial and the videographic evidence that was admitted?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted during the October 2021 term of the Horry County grand jury for one count of criminal sexual conduct first degree (CSC), one count of kidnapping, and one count of domestic violence high and aggravated (DVHAN).¹ In October 2023, the Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). R. 607-608. On January 29, 2024, the state, represented by Leigh A. Waller and George Henry Martin, III, called the case to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and a jury. Appellant was represented by Jonathan M. Hiller and J. Eric Fox. R. 1. After a weeklong trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 594, l. 13 – 595, l. 3. Judge Culbertson sentenced Appellant to twenty years' imprisonment on the ABHAN, thirty years' imprisonment on the CSC, and thirty years' imprisonment on the kidnapping, all sentences to run consecutively. R. 603, l. 12 – 604, l. 2; R. 611-616.

¹ During trial, the issue of whether the state could proceed on both the DVHAN and ABHAN indictments without violating the prohibition against double jeopardy was discussed. Eventually, the state elected to proceed solely on the ABHAN indictment and dismissed the DVHAN to avoid any potential confusion or error. R. 447-455; R. 508-516; R. 541-544.

ARGUMENTS

I.

The circuit court erred when it refused to charge the jury on involuntary intoxication where there was evidence presented at trial that Appellant was drugged without his knowledge and where involuntary intoxication was the center of Appellant's defense.

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review only errors of law.” State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 307, 764 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2014); see also State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). “The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2007). To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004) (internal citations omitted).

Relevant Facts

Appellant met K.S. through the dating application Tinder. The pair met in person for the first time around July 11, 2021. R. 404, l. 19 – 405, l. 12; R. 465, ll. 2-18. Appellant was between houses at the time the pair met and was primarily staying in his vehicle while sometimes staying in hotels. After meeting K.S., he would sometimes stay the night at her apartment. R. 464, ll. 5-13; R. 466, ll.-16. K.S. was ultimately evicted from her apartment in early August and began staying with Appellant in his car or in hotels. R. 407, ll. 12-22. The pair lived out of Appellant's car from approximately August 9 until August 28, 2021. R. 415, ll. 19-25. On August 28, 2021, K.S. ran into a local Walmart severely beaten and screaming for help. R. 87, l.

16 – 89, l. 24. K.S. was transported to Grand Strand Medical, a level-one trauma center, due to the extent of her visible injuries. R. 124, l. 3 – 125, l. 4. Prior to being transported to the hospital, K.S. identified her assailant as Appellant. State’s Ex. 9 – body cam at 1:38. Appellant was arrested approximately two days later, through the assistance of the U.S. Marshal Service. R. 279, l. 3 – 280, l. 8.

Prior to the start of trial, defense counsel indicated that the defense was withdrawing its notice of insanity defense. R. 5, l. 8 – 6, l. 5. Defense counsel clarified that the defense was “a twist on insanity” because Appellant was asserting that he was involuntarily under the influence of narcotics, and the defense would be requesting the Ralph King Anderson involuntary intoxication charge at the proper time. He argued, and the court agreed, that involuntary intoxication and insanity are two different things. R. 6, l. 23 – 8, l. 7. The state argued that a claim of purely involuntary intoxication was a diminished capacity argument which South Carolina did not recognize as a defense. The state continued that involuntary intoxication was only a defense when it caused symptoms of insanity which implicated the insanity defense. R. 8, l. 17 – 9, l. 8. After discussing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007) and the M’Naghten standard, defense counsel informed the court that he believed involuntary intoxication was a defense separate and apart from insanity. R. 13, l. 4 – 20, l. 23. The following morning when the parties reconvened, the court stated that it did not think there was a separate charge on involuntary intoxication, that the M’Naghten test was controlling, and that involuntary intoxication affected whether a defendant had criminal intent. R. 34, l. 12 – 35, l. 4. Based on the court’s statements, defense counsel decided not to withdraw the insanity defense notification. R. 35, ll. 7-18.

During trial, the defense asserted the defense of involuntary intoxication. Upon his arrest, Appellant stated, “any action that I did possibly commit, I was under the influence of a substance that I knew nothing about.” R. 355, ll. 17-22. During Appellant’s almost four-hour-long interview with police, he “indicated on numerous occasions that [K.S.] had provided him with illicit or narcotic-type substances” against his will. R. 288, ll. 15-19. He made “reference to several suspected drugs that he thought that he had seen in the vehicle” and he stated that K.S. had admitted on numerous occasions to drugging him without his knowledge. Appellant informed officers that K.S. put drugs in his mouth while he was sleeping and put drugs on his clothing and in his food. R. 358, l. 11 – 359, l. 23. The state entered text messages recovered from Appellant’s cellphone wherein Appellant asserted he was being drugged by K.S. without his knowledge. R. 335, l. 13 – 336, l. 16; See State’s Ex. 59; State’s Ex. 60.

K.S. testified that Appellant said he was assaulting her because she gave him drugs. She maintained that she did not give him drugs and she did not have access to drugs. R. 416, ll. 7 – 417, l. 1. She stated that in the videos recorded by Appellant, she had admitted to drugging him without his knowledge, but she maintained she had not drugged him. She stated she lied, telling him what he wanted to hear, to avoid being further assaulted by Appellant. R. 430, l. 18 – 431, l. 21. On cross-examination, K.S. admitted that she had a history of drug use involving “molly, Xanax, and acid,” however, she maintained that her drug use occurred prior to her meeting Appellant. She testified that the only drug they consumed together was marijuana. R. 440, l. 9 – 441, l. 14.

Appellant took the stand in his own defense at trial and testified extensively about being drugged by K.S. against his will. He testified that once they were living in his car, K.S.’s behavior changed, which he attributed to drug use. He stated he believed it was drug use

because he had grown up around people abusing drugs and recognized similar behaviors in K.S. such as being awake for days at a time and mood swings. He testified that he found drugs on K.S.'s person and in his car. R. 472, l. 2 – 474, l. 14. He testified that because of being drugged against his will, he experienced a racing heartbeat, profuse sweating, nauseousness, nervousness, and paranoia. He also experienced being in what he described as a “manic state.” R. 478, ll. 7 – 479, l. 6.

Appellant described a time when K.S. was preparing their food and he noticed her sprinkling something onto the food. He then saw her toss a small bag to the floor which he retrieved. He described the bag as a small plastic bag with a knot at the top that was mostly empty with only a small amount of what he believed to be drugs left in the bag. He accused K.S. of giving him drugs, but she denied it. R. 480, l. 3 – 481, l. 20. Appellant also described a time when he woke up with a weird chemical taste in his mouth. He grabbed her by the neck, asked what she had given him, and she replied that it was meth. He admitted the “situation escalated quite quickly[,] and she ended up being hurt.” R. 481, l. 24 – 482, l. 9. Appellant continued:

At that time, I -- I couldn't really -- I couldn't really distinguish right from wrong. But looking back on it now, I was wrong in the situation. And if I could have helped my reaction or mentally confirmed my reaction, it would've been different. But as we sit here today, in a clear mindset, I would like to apologize.

R. 482, ll. 10-15. At the end of his direct testimony, Appellant admitted causing the injuries to K.S. because he was under the influence of a substance that he was given involuntarily and not under his own free will. R. 487, ll. 8-13; R. 488, ll. 9-14.

The state called Dr. Emily Gottfried, the doctor who performed the criminal responsibility evaluation on Appellant, to rebut Appellant's testimony. R. 517, ll. 10-17; R. 520, l. 25 – 521, l. 3. In her opinion, Appellant neither met the criteria for not guilty by reason of insanity nor not guilty by reason of insanity due to involuntary intoxication. She opined that

Appellant had the ability to distinguish moral and legal right from wrong at the time of the offense, and he had the ability to conform his behavior to the law. Dr. Gottfried stated that mental illness or involuntary intoxication was not the cause of the criminal offenses. R. 537, ll. 7-24. On cross-examination, she conceded that another doctor might reach different conclusions based on the data that she reviewed. R. 539, l. 25 – 540, l. 9.

During the charge conference, defense counsel argued that the jury charges were to be determined from the evidence presented and requested that the court charge involuntary intoxication by stating,

There are two types of intoxication, voluntary and involuntary. Involuntary intoxication may result from innocently consuming an intoxicant through being tricked into it by another or being forced to take it, or perhaps through unanticipated side effects from a prescription drug taken on order of a physician.

If you find that the defendant was given drugs or alcoholic beverages without his knowledge, and as a result he lost the ability to exercise independent judgment and volition while committing the crimes alleged against him, then it would be to your duty to find the defendant not guilty.

R. 544, l. 7 – 545, l. 15. The circuit court requested “any legal authority” for the charge because Pittman, *supra*, “says that it is the same standard as M’Naghten.” R. 545, ll. 16-17. Defense counsel argued that Pittman did not stand for that proposition and requested the court make Defendant’s Request to Charge a Court’s Exhibit. The circuit court agreed to make the request an exhibit but stated “I’m not going to charge that.” R. 545, l. 18 – 546, l. 7. After the court charged the jury, defense counsel renewed the objection to the court’s decision to not charge involuntary intoxication. R. 591, ll. 22-25

Discussion

“[T]he purpose of jury instructions is to enlighten the jury as to what law is applicable to a certain state of facts in order that a just, fair and proper verdict can be reached.” State v. Peer,

320 S.C. 546, 554, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). “The trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010). “The *evidence presented at trial determines the law to be charged to the jury.*” State v. Gilliland, 402 S.C. 389, 400, 741 S.E.2d 521, 527 (Ct. App. 2012) (emphasis added). If there is *any evidence to support a jury charge*, the trial judge should grant the request. State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 632, 545 S.E.2d 805, 819 (2001) (emphasis added).

“Involuntary intoxication is generally recognized as a defense, and in M’Naghten type insanity jurisdictions, *is judged by a similar standard*: that is, as a result of involuntary intoxication, was the accused unable to know the nature and quality of his act or that it was wrong?” McAninch, Fairey & Coggiola, The Criminal Law of South Carolina (6th ed. 2013) Chapter 6, Section I. 2 (emphasis added). In Pittman, *supra*, our Supreme Court found that the circuit court properly refused an instruction based on the Model Penal Code standard of inability to conform one’s conduct to the requirements of the law. The circuit court instead charged the M’Naghten standard along with instructing the jury to find the defendant not guilty if they found involuntary intoxication applied in the case. Ultimately, our Supreme Court approved of the jury charge as given. Id. at 576-577, 647 S.E.2d at 170.

In the matter *sub judice*, the record is replete with evidence both supporting and rebutting Appellant’s defense of involuntary intoxication. This evidence creates a quintessential jury question, for only the jury can determine the truth and credibility of the witnesses. However, without a full instruction on the law of involuntary intoxication, the jury could not make that key determination. Under the any evidence standard, the trial court was required to charge the jury on involuntary intoxication. The failure to do so was error. This Court should find the circuit court erred in refusing the charge and remand Appellant’s case for a new trial.

II.

The circuit court erred in admitting forty pictures of the injuries sustained by K.S. where the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and where any probative value was negated by both the extensive, descriptive lay and expert witness medical testimony elicited during the trial and the videographic evidence that was admitted.

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, an appellate court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous.” State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007). “The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of photographs are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.” State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Wise, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

Relevant Facts

Byron Ross, the assistant manager at Walmart on the night that K.S. entered the store, was the first witness to testify regarding K.S.’s injuries. He described her as “beat brutally.” He testified that he could not recognize whether she was male or female, that it was a “horrific scene to see her face beat up like that,” and that her injuries “was (sic) really bad more than ever. I mean, stuff I hadn’t even seen in a movie. Really bad.” R. 56, l. 16 – 58, l. 12. Ross stated that the bruises he saw were fresh and that K.S. was bleeding. R. 58, ll. 13-18.

The next witness to describe K.S.'s injuries was Kelly Bonome, another Walmart employee who intervened to assist K.S. when she came into the Walmart on August 28, 2021.

Bonome described K.S.'s physical appearance stating:

She had smeared blood all over her. She had bruises all over her. She was currently bleeding. Her eyes were swollen, pretty much shut. She had marks all up and down her arms. You could see the signs. I could see that there were what appeared to be older bruises because they were yellowed and not fresh. There were fresh bruises and that they were dark and purple. There were red marks on her arms. Her whole body and her whole, you know, clothing and everything was -- was covered in blood, whether it be fresh or smeared or -- or whatever.

R. 88, ll. 11-24. A third Walmart employee, Katherine Andrade, testified that K.S. "was literally covered in blood. Her face was bruised, eyes swollen, her whole body seemed to be swollen."

R. 94, ll. 20-22.

Sergeant Jackie Witherspoon testified that he was the first to arrive on scene at the Walmart. He stated, "as soon as I walked in, I could see her face and her face was badly beaten and bruised, swollen, blood all over her face and her hair." R. 97, ll. 13-18; R. 99, l. 25 – 100, l.

3. Sean Stickle, a firefighter paramedic, was the first witness to give any medical testimony regarding K.S.'s injuries. R. 107, ll. 6-25. He testified that K.S.,

Had multiple contusions and different levels of healing all over her body, markings all over her body from what appeared to be some type of a tool. Her head was – her whole facial structure and her skull was extremely deformed due to what appeared to be blunt-force object, you know blunt force trauma to her face – face and skull.

R. 122, ll. 23 – 123, l. 3. He repeated his testimony that K.S. had blunt force trauma all over her body as well as tool markings all over her body, including injuries to her genitalia and anus. R. 123, ll. 9-19. He testified that due to the amount of injuries and trauma to her head, along with "the mechanism of injury of being struck by some type of blunt object, with great force," that K.S. needed to go to a level-one trauma center for a neurological evaluation. He stated that her

burnt genitalia was also considered a severe injury. R. 124, l. 17 – 125, l. 4. At the end of his direct testimony he stated:

The reason I remember this case specifically, I remember very much how deformed her head was and the amount of injuries throughout the entire body as a whole. And the cases that I've been on prior to that -- that presented in the same manner were usually homicides. That's why I remembered it. I remember her standing there going, I can't believe she's standing here.

R. 126, ll. 6-14.

Prior to the testimony of the treating physician, defense counsel objected to the photographs of K.S. from the hospital under Rule 403, SCRE, arguing that the prejudicial effect of the photographs substantially outweighed any probative value. He referred to the photographs as a group but clarified that he was objecting to each photograph individually. R. 132, ll. 12-17. Relying on State v. Nelson, 440 S.C. 413, 891 S.E.2d 508 (2023), he argued that even prior to the physician's testimony, the jury had already heard very detailed descriptions of K.S.'s injuries and that the photographs were not necessary for the state to prove its case. He continued that the photographs were "gruesome" and "hard to look at," and the concern was that the passions of the jury would be inflamed causing them to render a verdict on emotion instead of factual evidence. Defense counsel further argued that, along with the "voluminous testimony that we already have or will have regarding the injuries," many of the photographs were duplicative, showing the same injuries but from different angles. He concluded his argument by stating that there was not a dispute as to the fact that K.S. was injured. R. 132, l. 12 – 138, l. 25.

The state argued the photographs were "absolutely essential" to the state's case and that Nelson dealt with autopsy photographs, so it was "a completely different situation" in this case where the victim was alive and able to testify to her injuries in the photographs. The state continued that the physician would use the photographs to explain to the jury what she thought

caused the injuries, and that testimony was needed to prove the great bodily injury element. Of the seventy pictures taken of K.S., the state “narrowed it down to thirty-eight photos” to avoid overwhelming everyone. Regarding the pictures of K.S.’s genitalia, the state argued they were necessary to show evidence of a penetrating injury of sexual assault which was critical to the CSC charge. The state concluded that K.S. would be able to match various tools to the injuries in the pictures, and those were the reasons for putting the photographs in. R. 139, l. 7 – 141, l. 10.

Defense counsel reiterated that the witnesses would be able to testify in detail about the injuries to K.S., and the photographs did not add to that testimony. He stated his argument was not that there was no probative value to the photographs but that any probative value was substantially outweighed by the prejudicial effect of the photographs. R. 141, ll. 12-20. The court overruled the Rule 403 objection, finding that the probative value outweighed the prejudicial effect. R. 141, ll. 21-25.

Dr. Rachel Cobos was qualified as an expert in general surgery and surgical critical care. R. 154, ll. 7-9. She was the on-call trauma surgeon when K.S. arrived in the emergency room. She testified that when EMS brought K.S. to the ER, they “were met with, quite honestly, a shocking number of external injuries.” She continued:

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