**RECEIVED**

**Jul 28 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court Of General Sessions  
The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000172

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RICO ANTONIO FUNDERBURK,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 1276  
Conway, SC 29528  
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

The trial court properly instructed the jury concerning involuntary intoxication because the charge instructed the jury that they should acquit if the defendant was unable to distinguish moral or legal right from wrong, the court properly utilized its discretion with particular verbiage, and the instructions sufficiently cover the applicable law.

### Relevant Facts

Prior to trial Funderburk requested a jury instruction regarding involuntary intoxication. (R. 8). Mainly, the requested charge stated if Funderburk was found to have been given drugs “without his knowledge, and as a result he lost the ability to exercise independent judgment and volition while committing the crimes alleged against him” then the jury should acquit. (R. 545). The State argued that involuntary intoxication alone does not diminish capacity, but that capacity can be diminished if it leads to temporary insanity. (R. 9). Judge Culberson noted that in Pittman the court used the M’Naughten standard to determine whether a defendant’s condition rendered him responsible. (R. 13-14). Ultimately, the court found that a specific involuntary intoxication charge was not necessary. (R. 34). The court instructed the jury that if the defendant was “unable to distinguish moral or legal right from wrong, or to recognize the crime as morally or legally wrong” then the defendant did not possess the requisite criminal intent. (R. 587).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court will only reverse a trial judge's decision regarding jury instructions when that decision constitutes an abuse of discretion resulting in actual prejudice. See Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) ("An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion."); Rauch v. Zayas, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) ("[A]n alleged error in a portion of the charge must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial.").

### Analysis

The purpose of a trial judge's jury instructions is "to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). In its instruction, the trial judge must instruct the jury on the substance of the law but is not required to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). Additionally, the trial judge may also refuse a specific request if the substance of the request is incorporated in the instructions. Burroughs v. Worsham, 352 S.C. 382, 391–92, 574 S.E.2d 215, 220 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing Varnadore v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 289 S.C. 155, 345 S.E.2d 711 (1986)); Brown v. Stewart, 348 S.C. 33, 557 S.E.2d 676 (Ct. App. 2001). Jury instructions are not erroneous if they are substantially correct, sufficiently cover the applicable law, and do not contain comments on the facts. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996). The trial judge has no duty to grant a request to charge that does not correctly state the law or that may confuse or mislead the jury. State v. Simmons, 269 S.C. 649, 239 S.E.2d 656 (1977).

The Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit has noted it does not "engage in word-by-word hairsplitting when reviewing jury instructions given at trial, because a trial judge is given

wide discretion as to the style and wording employed in the instructions.” Johnson v. Breeden, 280 F.3d 1308, 1314 (11th Cir. 2002).

South Carolina has adopted the M’Naughten test as the standard for determining whether a defendant’s mental condition at the time of the offense rendered him criminally responsible. State v. South, 310 S.C. 504, 508, 427 S.E.2d 666, 669 (1993); Davenport v. State, 301 S.C. 39, 389 S.E.2d 649 (1990); State v. Law, 270 S.C. 664, 244 S.E.2d 302 (1978); State v. Cannon, 260 S.C. 537, 197 S.E.2d 678 (1973). Under M’Naughten, a defendant is considered legally insane if, at the time of the offense, he lacked the capacity to distinguish moral or legal right from wrong. Id. Specifically, our Supreme Court has found that M’Naughten is the correct standard concerning involuntary intoxication. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007). In Pittman, the court’s charge was upheld where the judge instructed as to the M’Naughten standard, but also went so far as to instruct that the jury should find the defendant not guilty if he was involuntary intoxicated. Id. Similarly, voluntary intoxication is not a defense unless the use of alcohol or drugs causes permanent insanity and destroys the defendant’s ability to know right from wrong. State v. Hartfield, 300 S.C. 469, 388 S.E.2d 802 (1990).

Likewise, several courts have found that involuntary intoxication, as it relates to intent, is considered within the context of insanity. United States v. F.D.L., 836 F.2d 1113, 1116 (8th Cir. 1988); See also People v. Wilkins, 459 N.W.2d 57, 60 (Mich. Ct. App. 1990) (“involuntary intoxication is a defense included within the ambit of the insanity defense”); State v. Stacy, 326 P.3d 136, 145 (Wash. Ct. App. 2014) (involuntary intoxication is a defense only if it “rise[s] to the level of insanity”); State v. Sette, 611 A.2d 1129, 1136 (N.J. Super. Ct. 1992) (involuntary intoxication is a complete defense “where the level of intoxication prevents the defendant from an awareness of the nature and quality of his acts or knowing that those acts are wrong”); Jones

v. State, 648 P.2d 1251, 1258 (Okla. App. 1982) (“involuntary intoxication is a complete defense where the defendant is so intoxicated that he is unable to distinguish between right and wrong, the same standard as applied in an insanity defense”).

Here, the court was not required to use the specific verbiage requested by Funderburk. The court declined to use the exact instruction Funderburk requested, but the court adequately instructed the jury that they should find Funderburk not guilty if he was unable to distinguish right from wrong. (R. 587). These instructions enlighten the jury and aided its ability to reach a correct verdict. The trial court did not abuse its discretion as to the style and wording of its instructions because the defense of involuntary intoxication is considered within the context of insanity. See Wilkins, 459 N.W.2d 57, 60 (Mich. Ct. App. 1990) (“involuntary intoxication is a defense included within the ambit of the insanity defense”); cf. Hartfield, 300 S.C. 469, 388 S.E.2d 802 (1990) (noting voluntary intoxication is not a defense unless the use of alcohol or drugs causes permanent insanity). Consequently, the trial court properly instructed the jury concerning the requisite level of intent by noting an acquittal was appropriate if Funderburk could not distinguish right from wrong. As noted in Worsham, so long as the court covers the substance of the charge, a specific request may be denied. The court has discretion with respect to particular verbiage, and the instructions here sufficiently cover the applicable law concerning the defense raised by Funderburk.<sup>1</sup> This court should affirm.

---

<sup>1</sup> Any error in the court’s instruction is harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Funderburk’s guilt. See State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014) (“When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.”) (internal quotation marks omitted). The State produced testimony from Victim detailing the abuse, video evidence shortly after abuse occurred, expert testimony that Funderburk likely had the ability to distinguish right from wrong, and Funderburk’s own testimony that he abused Victim.

**II. Graphicness alone does not render a piece of evidence inadmissible. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding the probative value of photographs was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, because they corroborate Victim’s testimony, show great bodily injury, and tend to show that the abuse was not the result of insanity.**

The trial court properly found the probative value of the photographs was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because they depict the extent of Victim’s bodily injuries, corroborate testimony, and aid the jury in determining disputed facts.

Relevant Facts

At trial, Funderburk objected to the admittance of photographs depicting Victim’s injuries. (R. 132-135). Funderburk cited Nelson, to which the court noted that in Nelson there was only a dispute as to who committed the act. (R. 138). Counsel then stated “Now, we may have a dispute, and we haven’t gotten to our side of the case, but I don’t think there’s any dispute that this woman was injured.” (R. 138). The State argued that the photographs show how the injuries were caused. (R. 139). Additionally, the State argued that great bodily injury was an element it had to prove, which was shown through the photographs. (R. 139). The court found the probative value of the photographs outweighed the prejudicial impact. (R. 141).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845 (2006). A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003). Thus, great deference is given to the trial court’s judgment. State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 357, 543 S.E.2d 593 (2001).

### Analysis

“Probative value is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case.” United States v. Stout, 509 F.3d 796, 804 (6th Cir. 2007). It is the weight that a piece of evidence will carry in helping the jury make a determination. “The more essential the evidence, the greater its probative value.” Id.

“All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.” State v. Bratschi, 413 S.C. 97, 115, 775 S.E.2d 39, 49 (Ct. App. 2015). Evidence that is unfairly prejudicial is evidence that suggests a decision on an improper basis. State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009) (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)).

This Court has upheld the admission of even graphic autopsy photos on several occasions over defendants’ Rule 403, SCRE objection. See State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 259, 746 S.E.2d 495, 501 (Ct. App. 2013) (finding no abuse of discretion where court admitted autopsy photos when the expert “testified the photographs would aid in her testimony”); State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 106–07, 564 S.E.2d 362, 371 (Ct. App. 2002) (affirming admission of autopsy photos that “corroborated ... the pathologist’s testimony regarding the extent of th[e] injuries”); State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 192, 215, 802 S.E.2d 623, 635 (Ct. App. 2017) (affirming admission of autopsy photos that helped the jury understand the nature and extent of Victim’s injuries as well as his condition near death); State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 669 S.E.2d 598 (Ct. App. 2008) (Autopsy photos of victim’s internal organs and other injuries were admissible to corroborate doctor’s testimony about various injuries inflicted).

In State v. Collins, the State introduced gruesome photographs that depicted the way in which victim was mauled by dogs. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014)

(plurality). Collins was charged with, among other things, owning a dangerous animal causing injury to a person. Id. The plurality opinion found the photographs aided the jury in evaluating the testimony offered by both parties. Id. 409 S.C. 524, 536, 763 S.E.2d 29. In a concurring opinion, Justice Kittredge found the admission to be a harmless error. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014) (Kittredge, J., concurring). The plurality noted the photographs depicted dog bites that jurors likely would be unfamiliar with. Id. 409 S.C. 531, 763 S.E.2d 29. The photographs assisted the jury in establishing the elements of the offense charged and the extent of the injuries sustained. Id. The Collins plurality noted “[c]ourts must often grapple with disturbing and unpleasant cases, but that does not justify preventing essential evidence from being considered by the jury.” Id.

The Indiana Supreme Court has upheld the admission of autopsy photographs of victim’s body after being beaten and hit by a train. Wheeler v. State, 749 N.E.2d 1111, 1115 (Ind. 2001). The Wheeler Court noted that gory photographs may be admissible if they are relevant to a material issue. Id. The court found that the photographs assisted the jury in understanding expert opinion related to the injuries sustained and determining the cause of death. Id.

Likewise, the Appellate Court of Illinois upheld the admission of photographs that depicted a decedent. People v. Brown, 231 N.E.2d 262, 266 (Ill. App. Ct. 1967). At trial, defendant attempted to show victim’s death was caused by an automobile accident. Id. The court found the photographs had probative value because they supported the medical testimony that victim’s death was caused by severe blows to the head, not an automobile accident. Id. The court upheld the admission because the photographs aided the jury in their ability to understand the medical testimony and injuries sustained. Id.

Here, the photographs show the nature of the injuries sustained and also aid the jury in determining a material matter of controversy. The photographs introduced were undoubtedly graphic, but that alone does not render them inadmissible. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 291, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (stating “[a]lthough the photographs were graphic, the facts in this case were graphic” and affirming the trial court); Turnipseed v. State, 367 S.E.2d 259, 262 (Ga. App. 1988) (stating “the photographs were not devoid of probative value because they showed the nature of the attack on the victim”). The photographs introduced depict the bodily injuries sustained by the Victim and tend to prove great bodily injury, an element of ABHAN. See SC Code § 16-3-600 (“A person commits the offense of [ABHAN] if the person unlawfully injures another person, and:(a) great bodily injury to another person results”). While the photographs are gruesome, the facts of this case are gruesome. As noted in Collins, courts often deal with disturbing facts; disturbing facts alone should not prevent a jury from considering important evidence which goes to show bodily injury and the unlikelihood of insanity.

Not only do the photographs assist the jury in understanding the injuries sustained, but they also corroborate testimony given during trial. The photographs corroborate Victim’s testimony about the extensive abuse she endured. They also corroborate the testimony of Gottfried and support the notion that the acts were not involuntary because they show the extent of abuse before drugs were alleged to have been taken. The court did not abuse its discretion because the photographs carry inherent probative value in their ability to corroborate testimony, show the acts were voluntary, and show bodily injury.

Funderburk contends that any probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Here, the photographs contain probative value in that they depict the injuries sustained, corroborate testimony, and show bodily injury. While the photographs are graphic,

they fall short of the kinds of photographs depicting deceased victims in autopsy photograph cases. As this Court noted in Bratschi, “[a]ll evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.” State v. Bratschi, 413 S.C. 97, 115, 775 S.E.2d 39, 49 (Ct. App. 2015). Here the court acted within its discretion because the danger of unfair prejudice does not substantially outweigh the probative value of photographs.

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